2008

# Utah v. Michael Dan Kerr : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS**

This is an appeal from a conviction for the crimes of Aggravated Assault, Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person and a Dangerous Weapon Penalty Enhancement. This court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to U.C.A. §78A-4-103(2)(e).

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

**POINT I**

**DID THE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO MERGE THE DANGEROUS WEAPON ENHANCEMENT ON BOTH OF THE THIRD-DEGREE FELONY CHARGES TOGETHER WITH THE SEPARATE DANGEROUS WEAPONS PENALTY ENHANCEMENT?**

STANDARD OF REVIEW: A “merger argument is a matter of statutory interpretation, a legal question, which [is] reviewed for correctness.” *State v. Bluff*, 52 P.3d 1210, 1223 (Utah 2002).

The issue was properly preserved at trial through a timely objection to these issues by trial counsel (Tr. 105).

## **POINT II**

### **WERE THE DEFENDANT’S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS UNDER THE CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PROVISION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION VIOLATED BY THE DOUBLE ENHANCEMENT AND DID THIS VIOLATION CONSTITUTE PLAIN ERROR?**

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The issue of constitutionality is a question of law, and this Court should review the trial court’s ruling for correctness and accord it no particular deference. “Since questions of constitutional rights are questions of law, we give no deference to the trial court’s conclusion . . .” *State v. Mitchell*, 824 P.2d 469, 471 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

The issue was not properly preserved at trial, although defense counsel objected to the enhancements on a merger or double jeopardy standard. (Tr. 105). Therefore, the plain error standard applies. “To establish plain error, a defendant must show: (1) an error did in fact occur, (2) the error should have been obvious to the trial court, and (3) the error is harmful. *State v. Bradley*,

2002 UT App 348 (See also *State v. Ellifritz*, 835 P.2d 170, 174 (Utah Ct.App. 1992) and *State v. Olsen*, 860 P.2d 332, 334 (Utah 1993)).

### **POINT III**

**WAS THE DEFENDANT DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS SEVEN AND TWELVE OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION WHEN HIS ATTORNEY FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE SENTENCE UNDER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE 1 SECTION 9 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.?**

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** The Appellate Court must determine as a matter of fact and law whether the Defendant was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel. In *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), the United States Supreme Court articulated a two part test, which was adopted in *State v. Templin*, 805 P.2d 182 (Utah 1990), to determine whether counsel was ineffective. The Court held that:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. *Id.* at 466 U.S. at 687, 80 L.Ed. 2d at 693.

## **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES**

The following constitutional provisions, statutes and rules are attached in the addendum:

### **UTAH STATUTES**

UCA. §76-1-402(3)

UCA §76-5-103. Aggravated assault.

UCA §76-10-503 Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person

UCA §76-3-203 Dangerous Weapon Penalty Enhancement

UCA §78A-4-103(2)(e)

### **UTAH CONSTITUTION**

Article 1 Section 7

Article 1 Section 9

Article 1 Section 12

### **UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION**

Fourth Amendment

Fifth Amendment

Sixth Amendment

Eighth Amendment

Fourteenth Amendment

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Defendant was charged with the offenses of Aggravated Assault, a third-degree felony in violation of U.C.A. §76-5-103, Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person, a third-degree felony in violation of U.C.A. §76-10-503, together with a Dangerous Weapon Penalty Enhancement in violation of U.C.A. §76-3-203. Defendant had a bench trial in front of the Honorable Parley R. Baldwin on June 17, 2008. The Defendant was found guilty on the Aggravated Assault Charges and the Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person together with a Dangerous Weapon Penalty Enhancement in violation of U.C.A. §76-3-203. On August 28, 2008, the Defendant was sentenced to serve consecutive terms of one to ten years on the two third-degree felonies, together with a 5 year to 10 year sentence on the enhancement. (R. 195/3-4)The Defendant is currently incarcerated in the Utah State Prison.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On June 16, 2006, Mr. Brandon Hartley and Brent McKissick were working at the Outlaw Saloon as club security. (R. 7) That evening, Mr. Hartley and his boss, Mr. McKissick, were called by a two-way radio to respond to a fight that was occurring in the club's bathroom. (R. 8). When Mr. Hartley arrived to the bathroom, he observed a man sitting on the floor while Mr. Kerr was punching him. (R. 9) At that point, Mr. Hartley grabbed Mr. Kerr by the

arm and pinned him down to the ground until more security arrived. (R.11) Mr. Hartley then took the Defendant outside and Mr. McKissick took the other individual outside, separating the two in front of the entrance to the club. (R.12) Mr. Kerr was bleeding, so Mr. Hartley went inside to grab some rags for the bleeding while Mr. McKissick looked after Mr. Kerr. (R. 13) Mr. McKissick took Mr. Kerr to the north side of the building where there was less traffic and sat him on the grass. (R. 27) Mr. McKissick noticed that Mr. Kerr's face was really purple and swollen. (R. 27) After checking Mr. Kerr's pupils for reaction to light, Mr. Kerr began to stand up, but once told to sit back down, and he complied. (R. 27) Mr. McKissick then saw that the officers and paramedics pull into the parking lot and walked away from the Defendant for a moment to get the attention of the officers. (R. 28) Defendant had gotten up and begun to walk towards the Flying J parking lot, and Mr. McKissick told him to sit back down. (R. 29) Mr. McKissick walked closer to him and put his hand up to the side of him; and at that point, Mr. Kerr then swung his left hand and hit him in the cheek. (R. 29) Mr. McKissick then spotted a knife, and he and Mr. Kerr began to wrestle around. (R. 30) Mr. McKissick pinned Mr. Kerr belly-faced to the ground and obtained control of the situation. (R. 31) The knife was pointed toward the ground and at some time during the wrestling, Mr. McKissick noticed the knife blade get bent against the asphalt. (R. 31) During the

wrestling, Mr. McKissick's face was cut by the knife. (R. 31) Once Mr. McKissick gained further control of the situation, Mr. McKissick radioed Mr. Hartley to have the sheriffs come over because he had been stabbed in the face. (R. 31) Officer Nealy Adams and Mr. Hartley were discussing the incident when, Mr. McKissick called out over the two-way radio that he had been stabbed. (R. 14) Mr. McKissick had Mr. Kerr pinned to the ground, and Mr. Hartley grabbed the knife out of his hand and pulled his arm behind his back and placed him in an ankle lock with the help of Officer Jones applying pressure to Mr. Kerr's bicep. (R. 14, 31, 59) Deputy Jones then placed Mr. Kerr into custody. (R. 78) Deputy Jones and Officer Adams placed the knife into evidence, and Officer Adams then waited by Mr. Kerr until medical arrived and were able to examine him and take him to the jail. (R. 79-80)

The Defendant was found guilty on the Aggravated Assault Charges and the Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person. Upon the Court's finding of guilt, the State asked the Court to look at U.C.A. §76-3-203.8 for an enhancement of a dangerous weapon.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The Defendant has the constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy, as set forth in the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The Defendant was denied this right when the trial court failed to merge charges

and convicted him of aggravated assault, possession of a dangerous weapon by a restricted person and then enhanced the sentence with the addition of a dangerous weapon penalty enhancement.

The possession of a dangerous weapon is an essential element to both aggravated assault and possession of a dangerous weapon by a restricted person. Using a weapons enhancement is doubly enhancing the Defendant's sentence and that is double jeopardy, a violation of Defendant's Fifth Amendment rights.

Furthermore the imposition of the two weapons enhancement violated the Defendant's constitutional right against cruel and unusual punishment as protected under Article 1 Section 9 of the Utah Constitution and the Eighth Amendment the United States Constitution. This constitutional violation is premised upon the fact that the legislature, after reviewing all of the ramifications of a possession of the weapon by a restricted person, declared the sentence to be 0 to 5 years in prison. By adding the two separate enhancements, the Defendant is being punished three times for the same crime, with a resulting increase of over 400% to the original sentence as enacted by the Utah State Legislature. Finally, the Defendant's Sixth Amendment constitutional rights to effective assistance of counsel were violated by counsel's failure to recognize and raise the cruel and unusual constitutional challenge.



## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

**THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MERGE THE DANGEROUS WEAPON ENHANCEMENT ON BOTH OF THE THIRD-DEGREE FELONY CHARGES TOGETHER WITH THE SEPARATE DANGEROUS WEAPONS PENALTY ENHANCEMENT WHICH VIOLATED DEFENDANT’S DOUBLE JEOPARDY RIGHT.**

The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution forbids multiple punishments when two offenses do not each require proof of an additional fact. *State v. Wood*, 868 P.2d 70, 90-91 (Utah 1993)<sup>1</sup>. Put another way, when a greater offense cannot be proved without the lesser, conviction of the lesser may not follow conviction of the greater. *Id.*

“[M]erger is a judicially-crafted doctrine available to protect criminal defendants from being twice punished for committing a single act that may violate more than one criminal statute. “ *State v. Diaz*, 2002 UT App 288, ¶ 17, 55 P.3d 1131. The motivating principle behind the merger doctrine is to prevent violations of constitutional double jeopardy protection. This Court in *State v. Lopez*, 2004 UT App 410, ¶ 8 stated “Courts apply the merger doctrine as one

---

<sup>1</sup> Overruled on other grounds, see *State v. Mirquet*, 914 P.2d 1144 (Utah Mar. 27, 1996).

means of alleviating the concern of double jeopardy that a defendant should not be punished twice for the same crime.”

In *State v. Ross*, 951 P.2d 236, 241 (Utah Ct. App. 1997), the Court held “The [statutory] prohibition on conviction for lesser-included offenses flows from the double jeopardy clauses of the Utah and the United States Constitutions.” U.C.A. §76-1-402(3) provides that “[a] defendant may be convicted of an offense included in the offense charged but may not be convicted of both the offense charged and the included offense.” The subsection further states that lesser included offenses are “established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged.” *Id.* Thus, “where the two crimes are ‘such that the greater cannot be committed without necessarily having committed the lesser,’ then as a matter of law they stand in the relationship of greater and lesser offenses, and the defendant cannot be convicted or punished for both.” *State v. Hill*, 674 P.2d 96, 97 (Utah 1983)

In *Hill*, the court set forth a two-part test for determining whether a conviction for a second offense arising out of the same set of facts violates §76-1-402(3), requiring a comparison of “the statutory elements of the two crimes [first] as a theoretical matter and [second], where necessary, by reference to the facts proved at trial.” *Id.* A third part to the test was later added in *State v.*

*McCovey*, 803 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1990) which stated that in cases where the legislature intended a statute to be an enhancement statute, the merger doctrine set forth in §76-1-402(3) does not apply.

In the instant case, it is ambiguous what the legislature intended in regards to the Dangerous Weapons Penalty Enhancement. The possession of a dangerous weapon was the sole factor in Defendants Aggravated Assault charge, and the Dangerous Weapon Penalty Enhancement under §76-3-203. There was no way to obtain the convictions of Aggravated Assault and Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person without the possession of a weapon. Accordingly, the dangerous weapon penalty enhancement must merge into the greater offenses of aggravated assault and possession of a dangerous weapon by a restricted person. See *Wood, supra*.

Here, the Defendant was charged with the crime of Aggravated Assault, Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person in addition to a Dangerous Weapon Penalty Enhancement. The facts of this case show that the Defendant did get into an altercation with Mr. McKissick which resulted in a knife wound to Mr. McKissick's face. Defendant's only weapon used was a Leatherman-type knife. The Defendant was charged and convicted of aggravated assault and possession of dangerous weapon (the Leatherman knife) by a

restricted person. Each of those charges resulted in a sentence of one to five years. It was essential that a weapon be used in order to get the conviction of those crimes. Allowing a Dangerous Weapon Penalty Enhancement in violation of U.C.A. §74-3-203, for the possession of a Leatherman knife is doubly enhancing the sentence for the possession of a tool.

The Illinois Supreme Court defines double enhancement and stated: “Double enhancement exists “when a factor previously used to enhance an offense or penalty is again used to subject a defendant to a further enhanced offense or penalty.” *People v. Koppa*, 184 Ill.2d 159, 703 N.E.2d 91 (1998).

The Illinois Supreme Court further defined the problem of double enhancement in *People v. Haron*, 422 N.E.2d 627 (Ill. 1981), stating: In the context of armed violence, the State cannot seek to enhance an offense through the presence of a weapon and then use the weapon as a basis for an armed violence charge. *Id.* In *Haron*, the trial court found an impermissible double enhancement because the presence of a weapon enhanced a misdemeanor battery offense to felony aggravated battery and additionally served as a basis for an armed violence charge. *Id.*

The *Haron* court, further went on to say: “[W]here a defendant possesses a weapon during the commission of a felony, an armed violence charge does not

constitute improper enhancement if the elements of the predicate felony require no presence or use of a weapon. *Id. Haron*,

Here, the crimes the Defendant was convicted of include Aggravated Assault, U.C.A. §76-5-103<sup>2</sup> which explicitly lists the requirement of a dangerous weapon as an essential element to the crime. Next, the crime of Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person, U.C.A. §76-10-503<sup>3</sup>, requires that the individual be of a restricted class and have in possession a dangerous weapon. Both of these crimes hinge upon whether there was a possession of a weapon. Further enhancing the Defendant's sentence through a dangerous weapon penalty enhancement is exactly what the *Haron* court defined as double enhancement.

In a case out of the Tenth Circuit, *U.S. v. Farrow*, 277 F.3d 1260 (C.A.10 (Okla.),2002), (in which the defendant robbed a grocery store with his hand in

---

<sup>2</sup> 76-5-103. Aggravated assault.

(1) A person commits aggravated assault if he commits assault as defined in Section 76-5-102 and he:

(b) under circumstances not amounting to a violation of Subsection (1)(a), uses a dangerous weapon....

<sup>3</sup> 76-10-503.Restrictions on possession, purchase, transfer, and ownership of dangerous weapons by certain persons.

(a) A Category I restricted person is a person who:

(i) has been convicted of any violent felony....

his pocket acting like a gun) the court held that “[A]n enhancement based on possession of a dangerous weapon under 2B3.1(b)(2) does not result in double counting because possession of a dangerous weapon is not an element of the offense of unarmed robbery under the statute. *Id.* See *United States v. Rucker*, 178 F.3d 1369, 1373 (10th Cir.1999) (no improper double counting of separate enhancement provisions when they “do not necessarily overlap, are not indistinct, and do not serve identical purposes”).

The Tenth Circuit has made it clear that an enhancement for a weapon is permissible, as long as the weapon is not an element of the offense or overlaps. In the present case, the weapon enhancement directly overlaps and is an element in the aggravated assault and possession of a weapon by a restricted person.

The double jeopardy provisions in both the United States and Utah constitutions generally prohibit the State from making repeated attempts to convict an individual for the same offense after jeopardy has attached....” *State v. Harris*, 2004 UT 103, ¶ 22, 104 P.3d 1250. “With respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does no more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended.” *Missouri v. Hunter*, 459 U.S. 359, 366, 103 S.Ct. 673, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983) (addressing Fifth Amendment double jeopardy claims).

In *Hunter*, the United States Supreme Court determined that dangerous weapon enhancement statutes do not violate the Fifth Amendment’s prohibition on double jeopardy if the legislature specifically authorized cumulative punishment for a crime committed with a dangerous weapon. *See Id.* (stating “where two statutory provisions proscribe the ‘same offense,’ they are construed not to authorize cumulative punishments *in the absence of a clear indication of contrary legislative intent* “ (quoting *Whalen v. United States*, 445 U.S. 684, 692, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980))).

In the case at bar, the enhancement statute and legislative intent are at issue. U.C.A. §76-3-203.8 states (in relevant part):

(2) If the trier of fact finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a dangerous weapon was used in the commission or furtherance of a felony, the court:

(b) may increase by five years the maximum sentence applicable by law in the case of a felony of the second or third degree.

(4) If the trier of fact finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a person has been sentenced to a term of imprisonment for a felony in which a dangerous weapon was used in the commission of or furtherance of the felony and that person is subsequently convicted of another felony in which a dangerous weapon was used in the commission of or furtherance of the felony, the court shall, in addition to any other sentence imposed including those in Subsection (2), impose an indeterminate prison term to be not less than five nor more than ten years to run consecutively and not concurrently.

Utah courts have determined that parts of this statute are clear and that the legislative intent was intended to enhance sentencing in which a dangerous weapon was used. The *State v. Alfatlawi* case is an example.

In *State v. Alfatlawi*, 153 P.3d 804, 816 -818 (Utah App.,2006), the Defendant, who was charged with multiple counts of aggravated robbery and one count of aggravated burglary, claimed he was punished twice for a single act – the use of a dangerous weapon in the commission of his crimes when the court used a dangerous weapon enhancement, and further violated his right against double jeopardy.

This Court disagreed and determined that the dangerous weapon enhancement statute does not violate Defendant’s right against double jeopardy. This Court stated that *Hunter* requires us to consider whether the legislature intended for the dangerous weapon enhancement to impose cumulative punishments. *See id.* We determine that the legislature did so intend. “ ‘[W]here the statutory language is plain and unambiguous, we do not look beyond the language’s plain meaning to divine legislative intent.’ ” *State v. Kenison*, 2000 UT App 322, ¶ 10, 14 P.3d 129 (quoting *State v. Tryba*, 2000 UT App 230, ¶ 13, 8 P.3d 274). Therefore, “[o]nly when we find ambiguity in the statute’s plain language need we seek guidance from the legislative history and relevant policy



considerations.” *Id.* (quoting *Nelson v. Salt Lake County*, 905 P.2d 872, 875 (Utah 1995)).

The plain language of §76-3-203.8 states that “[i]f the trier of fact finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a dangerous weapon was used in the commission or furtherance of a felony, the court ... shall increase by one year the minimum term of the sentence applicable by law.” Utah Code Ann. §76-3-203.8(2). This Court further went on to say “We believe this language unambiguously states that the legislature intended to make it mandatory for trial courts to increase prison terms where the jury determined beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant used a dangerous weapon while committing a felony. As a result, the dangerous weapon enhancement statute complies with the requirements of *Hunter* and does not violate the Fifth Amendment.” *State v. Alfatlawi*, 153 P.3d 804.

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