2008

Utah v. Michael Dan Kerr : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

“Merger is a judicially-crafted doctrine available to protect criminal defendants from being twice punished for committing a single act that may violate more than one criminal statute,” *State v. Diaz*, 2002 UT App 288, ¶ 17, 55 P.3d 1131. Thus, “[c]ourts apply the merger doctrine as one means of alleviating the concern of double jeopardy that a defendant should not be punished twice for the same crime.” *State v. Lopez*, 2004 UT App 410, ¶ 8, 103 P.3d 153.

¹ Article I, section 12 of the Utah constitution also provides that no person “shall . . . be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.” Utah Const. art. I, § 12. Defendant briefly references the double jeopardy provision of the Utah constitution. Br. Appellant at 14. But if he is intending to rely on the state constitutional provision, he has not adequately briefed that claim. He has not offered any “unique state constitutional analysis” in his brief to this Court, instead only offering “cursory references to the state constitution within arguments otherwise dedicated to a federal constitutional claim.” *State v. Worwood*, 2007 UT 47, ¶¶ 18-19, 164 P.3d 397. Therefore, his state constitutional claim is not properly before this Court.

The merger doctrine is now codified at Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-402 (West 2004). See *State v. Perez-Avila*, 2006 UT App 71, ¶ 10, 131 P.3d 864 ; *State v. Lee*, 2006 UT 5, ¶ 32, 128 P.3d 1179. Section 76-1-402 provides that, “[a] defendant . . . may not be convicted of both the offense charged and [an] included offense.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-402(3). Under this section, “an offense qualifies as a lesser included offense when the offense ‘is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged.’ ” *Perez-Avila*, 2006 UT App 71, ¶ 10 (quoting Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-402(3)(a)). In other words, “[i]f the greater offense “cannot be committed without necessarily having committed the lesser, then the lesser offense merges into the greater crime.”” *State v. Smith*, 2003 UT App 179, ¶ 12, 72 P.3d 692 (quoting *State v. Yanez*, 2002 UT App 50, ¶ 21, 42 P.3d 1248).²

The merger doctrine does not apply, however, “where the legislature intended a statute to be an enhancement statute.” *State v. Smith*, 2005 UT 57, ¶ 9, 122 P.3d 615. As the United States Supreme Court has explained, “With respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does no

² A second form of merger, not relevant here, is set forth in *State v. Finlayson*, 2000 UT 10, 994 P.2d 1243.

more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended.” *Missouri v. Hunter*, 459 U.S. 359, 366 (1983). “Where [the legislature] intended ... to impose multiple punishments, imposition of such sentences does not violate the Constitution.” *Id.* at 368 (citations and internal quotations omitted) (emphasis in *Hunter*).

Finally, in *State v. Alfatlawi*, this Court considered whether the legislature intended to provide for multiple punishments when it enacted Utah’s dangerous weapons enhancement statute. *Alfatlawi*, 2006 UT App 511, ¶ 37. This Court held that the plain and unambiguous language of section 76-3-203.8 and its mandatory imposition of increased sentences showed that the legislature intended the statute to impose cumulative punishments. *Id.* at ¶¶ 40-41 (noting that both the plain language of the statute and its legislative history demonstrated “a legislative intent to authorize cumulative punishment for a single act,” i.e., to impose an enhancement). *Id.* at ¶ 41. “As a result,” the Court concluded, “the dangerous weapon enhancement statute complies with the requirements of *Hunter* and does not violate the Fifth Amendment.” *Id.* at ¶ 40. The Court “likewise determine[d] that [a] dangerous weapon enhancement does not violate the Utah Constitution’s prohibition against double jeopardy.” *Id.* at ¶ 42 (citing Utah Const. art. I, § 12).

Proceedings below. The trial court, acting as trier of fact in a bench trial, found Defendant guilty of aggravated assault based on his use of a dangerous

weapon during the commission of an assault. R194:104. The court also found Defendant guilty of possession by a restricted person based on his use of a dangerous weapon during the assault. R194:112. And the court found that Defendant had a prior conviction for a violent felony – his 1998 Nevada conviction for coercion with a dangerous weapon. R194:111.

Based on these findings, the trial court ordered that Defendant's sentences for aggravated assault and possession of a dangerous weapon be enhanced under subsection (2) of the dangerous weapons enhancement statute. R195:4. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-203.8(2) (providing that "[i]f the trier of fact finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a dangerous weapon was used in the commission or furtherance of a felony, the court ... shall increase by one year the minimum term of the sentence" and "may increase by five years the maximum sentence"). Thus, instead of imposing sentences of zero to five years, the trial court imposed sentences of one to ten years on those convictions. R195:4.

The court then ordered that Defendant also serve a consecutive five-to-ten-year prison term for recidivism under subsection (4) of the dangerous weapons enhancement statute. *Id.* *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-203.8(4) (providing that "[i]f the trier of fact finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a person has been sentenced to a term of imprisonment for a felony in which a dangerous weapon was used ... and that person is subsequently convicted of another felony in which a dangerous

weapon was used ... the court shall, in addition to any other sentence imposed including those in Subsection (2), impose an indeterminate prison term to be not less than five nor more than ten years to run consecutively”). The court did not specify whether this mandatory sentence was based on Defendant’s aggravated assault charge, his possession-by-a-restricted-person charge, or both. *See id.*

A. Because the legislature intended that the dangerous weapon statute provide for enhanced penalties, merger does not apply and imposition of cumulative punishments does not violate double jeopardy protections.

Defendant claims that “the dangerous weapon penalty enhancement must merge into the greater offenses of aggravated assault and possession of a dangerous weapon by a restricted person.” Br. Appellant at 11. According to Defendant, merger is required because the only element necessary to support the enhancements in this case was possession/use of a dangerous weapon and possession/use of a dangerous weapon is already an element of the underlying aggravated assault and possession-by-a-restricted-person offenses. *See id.*

Defendant’s claim fails because, as the Utah Supreme Court has held, the merger doctrine does not apply “where the legislature intended a statute to be an enhancement statute.” *State v. Smith*, 2005 UT 57, ¶ 9, 122 P.3d 615. And, as this Court has already held, both the plain language of the dangerous weapons enhancement statute and its legislative history demonstrate “a legislative intent to authorize cumulative punishment for a single act,” i.e., to impose an enhancement.

Alfatlawi, 2006 UT App 511, ¶ 41. Moreover, there can be no double jeopardy violation, because, “[w]ith respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does no more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended.” *Missouri v. Hunter*, 459 U.S. 359, 366 (1983).

Given this case law, Defendant cannot prevail on his double jeopardy and merger challenges to the trial court’s application of the dangerous weapons enhancement statute.

- B. The possession-by-a-restricted-person statute criminalizes the use, as well as the possession, of dangerous weapons.**
Defendant, a restricted person, violated the section by *using*, as well as by possessing, a dangerous weapon, and was therefore properly subject to enhancements for having *used* a dangerous weapon in the commission of that felony.

Alternatively, Defendant claims that his possession-by-a-restricted-person offense could not support dangerous weapons sentencing enhancements. According to Defendant, the enhancement statute does not “permit an enhancement for a weapon possession when the possession is the sole element of the underlying crime.” Br. Appellant at 18. Moreover, Defendant asserts, the enhancement statute applies only “when a weapon is used in the commission or furtherance of a felony,” and possession of a weapon by a restricted person does not constitute “use[] in the commission or furtherance of a felony.” *Id.* This argument misapprehends the statutory elements of possession by a restricted person.

The enhancement was proper because Defendant's conviction was for *use* of a dangerous weapon by a restricted person. Under statutory law, a "Category I restricted person who intentionally or knowingly ... purchases, transfers, possesses, uses, or has under his custody or control ... any dangerous weapon other than a firearm is guilty of a third degree felony." Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503(2)(b). Defendant was charged and convicted under Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503(2)(b) as a Category I restricted person for intentionally or knowingly purchasing, transferring, possessing, *using*, or having a knife under his control. R7 (information). Thus, he was charged not only with possessing, but also with *using* the knife.

Moreover, the evidence supporting Defendant's conviction on that charge showed that Defendant not only possessed the knife, but that he also used it. Thus, his conviction for possession by a restricted person was not merely a conviction for possession of a dangerous weapon but for *use* of that weapon. Mere possession of the knife as a restricted person might have sufficed to make the offense enhanceable under the dangerous weapon possession statute. But his *use* of the knife as a restricted person definitely did. Subsection 2 of the enhancement statute requires a one-year increase of the minimum sentence and permits a five-year increase in the maximum sentence "[i]f the trier of fact finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a dangerous weapon was used in the commission or furtherance of a felony." Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-203.8(2). Defendant used his knife in commission of the felony of

possession or *use* by a restricted person when he stabbed McKissick. Thus, the increased sentence for weapons possession by a restricted person was proper.

Finally, Defendant's use of the knife also supports his conviction and sentence for recidivism. Subsection 4 of the enhancement statute requires that the trial court impose an additional five-to-ten-year consecutive sentence "[i]f the trier of fact finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a person has been sentenced to term of imprisonment for a felony in which a dangerous weapon was used in the commission of or furtherance of the felony and that person is subsequently convicted of another felony in which a dangerous weapon was used in the commission of the felony." Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-203.8(4).

The trial court, acting as trier-of-fact, found that Defendant had been convicted and sentenced for a 1998 Nevada felony in which he used a dangerous weapon. R194:111. As explained, the trial court also found that Defendant had used a dangerous weapon in committing both the aggravated assault and the possession-by-a-restricted-person offenses. *See* R194:112. Hence, the trial court properly found Defendant subject to the enhancement for recidivism.

But the trial court imposed only one sentence under the subsection 4 enhancement provision. R195:4. And, while Defendant challenges imposition of the subsection 4 enhancement on the basis of his possession-by-a-restricted-person charge, he has not challenged the imposition of the enhancement on the basis of his

aggravated assault charge. Thus, an alternative unchallenged basis survives to support imposition of this enhanced term, and this Court need not address Defendant's claim that enhancement of his possession-by-a-restricted-person offense under subsection 4 was improper. *See State v. Baker*, 963 P.2d 801, 810 (Utah App. 1998) (when a defendant challenges only some of the bases for a trial court's decision, the appellate court "need not address whether the trial court erred in considering [them]," because the other bases survive to support the trial court's decision).

In sum, the trial court committed no error in its application of the dangerous weapons enhancements to Defendant's case. Thus, Defendant's claims challenging that application fail.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PLAINLY ERR IN NOT SUA SPONTE RULING THAT THE ADDITIONAL FIVE-TO-TEN-YEAR CONSECUTIVE TERM CONSTITUTED CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 9, OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION

Defendant claims that the trial court plainly erred in not sua sponte ruling that his consecutive five-to-ten-year prison term constituted cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Utah constitution. *See Br. Appellant at 19-27.* Defendant cannot prevail on this claim because he has not demonstrated that error, if any, should have been obvious.

To establish plain error a defendant must show that “(i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome.” *State v. Lee*, 2006 UT 5, ¶ 26, 128 P.2d 1179 (citation and internal quotation omitted). An error is obvious only if “the law governing the error was clear at the time the alleged error was made.” *State v. Dean*, 2004 UT 63, ¶ 16, 95 P.3d 276. “Utah courts have repeatedly held that a trial court’s error is not plain where there is no settled appellate law to guide the trial court.” *State v. Ross*, 951 P.2d 236, 239 (Utah App. 1997) (citing *State v. Eldredge*, 773 P.2d 29, 35-36 (Utah 1989); *State v. Braun*, 778 P.2d 1336, 1341-42 (Utah App. 1990)).

Here, Defendant’s plain error claim fails as a matter of law because he cannot show obvious error. No possible error in imposing the additional five-to-ten-year consecutive prison term could have been obvious to the trial court, because there is

no settled appellate law stating that such a term for that offense is unconstitutional.

Defendant cites no such authority, and the State is aware of none.³

In sum, Defendant's plain error claim fails because Defendant has not shown that error, if any, was obvious.

³ Defendant relies on language in the plurality opinion written by then-Justice Durham in *State v. Gardner*, 947 P.2d 631 (Utah 1997), to support his claim that the dangerous weapon enhancement violates the Utah constitution. *Gardner* addressed the constitutionality of a Utah statute that made assault by a prisoner a capital offense in certain circumstances. *See id.* at 632. *Gardner* does not support Defendant's claim. First, the majority reached no holding under the Utah constitution. *See id.* at 653-58 (J. Zimmerman, concurring in part and concurring in the result; JJ. Russon and Howe, dissenting). Only two justices adopted the portion of the opinion addressing the Utah constitution. *See id.* at 653. The three-justice majority agreed only that the statute violated the Eighth Amendment. *See id.* Second, the issue in that case was the propriety of the death penalty, not the propriety of any sentence for a certain number of years. *See id.* at 632.

Defendant cites no other authority for his claim. While he references several United States Supreme Court cases — *Ewing v. California*, 538 U.S. 11 (2003); *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277 (1983); *Coker v. Georgia*, 433 U.S. 584 (1977); and *Furman v. Georgia*, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), those cases address the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, not article 1 of the Utah constitution. Moreover, those cases, unlike the instant case, all involved sentences for death or for a term up to life, not sentences for a term of years.

Defendant also cites several state cases — *State v. Rivera*, 2003 UT App 169U; *State v. Stromberg*, 783 P.2d 54 (Utah App. 1989); and *State v. South*, 932 P.2d 622 (Utah App. 1977). But none of these cases address the constitutionality of the dangerous weapon enhancement statute or otherwise support Defendant's claim.

III.

DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT ARGUING THAT THE ADDITIONAL FIVE-TO-TEN-YEAR CONSECUTIVE TERM CONSTITUTED CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT UNDER THE UNITED STATES AND UTAH CONSTITUTIONS

Defendant also claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for not arguing that the additional five-to-ten-year consecutive term for recidivism constituted cruel and unusual punishment under the United States or Utah constitutions. *See* Br. Appellant at 27-32. Defendant cannot prevail on this claim because he has not shown that counsel's performance was deficient or prejudicial.

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